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	SK 6153 3349
	129
	169
	Tollerton Hall Camp, Tollerton
	Nottinghamshire
	5
	
	Restored parkland. Evidence of hut
footings also visible at SK 6136 3457. See Camp no.613
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	[image: ]Location: About 8 km SE of central Nottingham.

Before the camp: Country estate. After 1929, it ceased to be a private house and the owners turned it into a residential sports club and hotel. At the start of WW2 it was requisitioned and used by the Army, RAF, and the US 507th Parachute Infantry Regiment up until May 1944. The 507th arrived in March 1944 and the camp was then described as a tent city – with officers using the Hall.

1944 – huts and tents - us_7ph_gp_loc282_v_5035 - Aerial Photo | Historic England

Pow Camp: Reports stated that Italian and then German pows were held here and guarded initially by Polish soldiers.

8 June 1945 – Camp 169. PID Progress Report 101, from Segregation Section – “In view of great demand for labour in recent weeks, we have had to ask D.P.W. to provide the 550 Ps/W required as additional labour for [Camp 86]. This camp was opened by the War Office and has not been screened by us…. D.P.W. agreed at our request to draw the Ps/W from Camp No.169.”
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	Ordnance Survey 1952
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	Oversight and development of re-education activities and English teaching for German pows was carried out by PID (Political Intelligence Department of the Foreign Office) / COGA (Control Office for Germany and Austria – UK). Visits and reports were made. The standard of the reports varied greatly. The visitors took little interest, if any, in activities other than re-education. They rarely mentioned welfare, sports, games, pastimes, crafts, etc of the pows. If there were still Italian pows in hostels, they were usually ignored by PID.



An unusual camp where many of the pows were attached to other camps.

25 August 1946 – 1st PID visit to Camp 698 German Working Company. Re-education report. Strength; 1 officer (the M.O.), 489 Other Ranks; “of which 295 attached to various British units.” The camp was hutted.

Became German Working Camp 698 on 21 May 1946 with 445 pows from camps in the USA, (via Warth Mills Camp 177). Most pows arriving from the USA had very low morale as they had been misinformed in the US that they were being repatriated. Instead, they found themselves in working camps in the UK.

Commandant:	Major E G Ashford							Camp leader:	Feldw P Fiege-Spielmann (B+)
2nd i/c:		Capt F B Hallam							Deputy C/L:	Ob.Fw J W Loser (A)
Interpreter:	-									German M.O. 	Ass.Arzt G Arzt (B-)
The camp leader made a, “good impression and appears reliable and intelligent. He belongs to a wealthy family of landowners recently disowned by the Russians. He is anti-Nazi as well as anti-Russian.”

The deputy was a student, “genuinely anti-Nazi.”
 
M.O. Arzt, “lives a secluded life. He is uncommunicative…” He admitted he had been a Nazi supporter, but, “he is not likely to have any influence on the PW whatsoever.”

	Political screening:
	A+
	A
	A-
	B+
	B
	B-
	C
	C+
	Unscreened

	
	-
	1
	-
	5
	18
	9
	24
	-
	433



Morale was recorded as “bad.” Main reasons were slow repatriation, and disappointment of ex-US pows. Some pows had been in camps in Belgium where conditions had been extremely poor. Many pows were nihilistic and apathetic towards any politics. Pows retaining Nazi views were not politically active.

15-20% were ‘youth’ pows (under 25); they were not seen as a problem.

Re-education activities were just starting. The standard list was given:

Wochenpost and Ausblick – 80/0 copies respectively. 

Newspapers – a very limited selection of British papers were received. Supplies were difficult in the local area. Only 2-3 German papers arrived irregularly.

Library – “of little use” only 82 books.

Lectures – poor, only 2 lectures given in 3 months.

Discussion groups – hoped to start soon.

Films – YMCA supplied every 3 weeks, and Gaumont British films fortnightly.

Wireless – 3 sets + 1 loudspeaker controlled by the camp leader and deputy. Reception was poor for German stations.

Camp newspaper – to start.

Press review  - to start.

English instruction – classes taking place, but teaching texts required.

Other camp activities –

Religion – 80% protestant; Sunday services at Tollerton Church and a pow padre (Pfarrer Kessler) from Old Dalby Camp 613 visited. RC – 20% with Sunday services in camp chapel led by a British padre who could not speak German.

Education – classes for Russian and maths. Some pows were studying commercial correspondence courses.

Theatre – A small group performed mainly musical comedies. There was a stage, but costumes and play scripts needed.

Orchestra – Popular 12 piece band playing a range of music.

30 October 1946 - Incidental information from a German theatre group journal held by the Deutsches Historisches Museum. The group toured pow camps around England during 1946. It recorded its visit to Tollerton Hall Camp, 698 on this date.

9 December 1946 – Re-education visit and screening. Strength; 1 officer, 357 OR. Only 150 pows were based at the main camp, the rest were distributed as follows:

	1023 Camp Sudbury
	167 Camp Shady Lane
	Drivers at ’32 ASD’ Loughborough
	Edwin Stowe ‘27 PC Coy’
	Renby ‘90 PTC’
	Lincoln Military Hospital
	1002 Pow Coy
	ATW Winthorpe
	Drivers at various units

	50
	40
	64
	6
	15
	5
	12
	7
	25


ASD = Army Service Depot at Garendon Hall  /  PC = Pioneer Corps.

1 change to senior personnel – Deputy C/L; Ogefr J Engel (A).

The Commandant was recorded as being “extremely co-operative, hospitable, and very popular with his Ps.W.”

	Political screening:
	A
	B
	C
	Unscreened

	
	34
	174
	25
	125



Morale had improved to “generally high.” Various reasons were given; Speedier repatriations, fair treatment, increased canteen, a range of activities. Adverse factors were; bad news from home, the future of Germany, and pows graded C.

Changes to activities –

Newspapers – supplies of a British papers had improved. Some German (British Zone only) and Swiss papers were subscribed to.

Library – 304 books.

Lectures – regular and generally popular depending on subject and the lecturer.

Discussion groups – none, other than after lectures.

Wireless – 5 sets and loudspeakers around the camp.

Camp newspaper – paper supplies very low which restricted publication.

Press review  - A wall ‘newspaper’ and a weekly meeting due to start.

Religion – Pfarrer Kessler from Camp 613 continued to visit twice weekly and was very popular. Pfarrer Wengler from Camp 52 visited fortnightly. 

Education – classes for drawing, painting and maths.

Theatre – the group performed plays, variety shows and community singing. Costumes were hired locally.

Orchestra – 11 piece band of “an unusually high standard” performed classical music and jazz.

Choir – 22 members planning Christmas performances.

1 January 1947 – Camp magazine No.9; Lagerspiegel : 698 Tollerton Hall Camp - The Wiener Holocaust Library

A review of recent Christmas events was given:

December 8; the Heinz Priester band gave a concert – “The program featured mostly good German music.” 

December 21; weekly press review was started. An information board was also set up with pictures, German and foreign articles, and news.

December 22; (Sunday) a small group of pows gathered in the ‘study’ (reading/information room) for a part of Bach's Christmas Oratorio. It did not say if this was a gramophone or choir performance.  

December 24 – “At 8 o'clock in the evening, we gathered in the dining hall, which had been festively decorated for Christmas. On tables covered in white and decorated with greenery, each person had a plate of pastries, apples, nuts, and cigarettes, alongside platters laden with pies and cakes. The Christmas tree, with its large and small white and silver stars and tinsel, shone with lights, and candles burned on the tables. All of this put us in the perfect Christmas spirit.” There was a short speech by the camp leader, and performances by the orchestra and choir. “At 10 p.m., almost the entire camp was out for a short stroll in the park; the brass band played "Silent Night" and "Oh, how joyful" by torchlight on the castle's highest battlement. The ancient melodies swung like a fairytale through the starry night, filling the hearts of the strollers with solemnity.”
December 25 – an English Catholic priest celebrated Holy Mass in the morning. The choir sang two hymns during the service. In the evening, the Heinz Preister band gave a concert.

105 pows (10%) were invited to spend Christmas with local families.

December 26 - Pastor Karl Kessler held a service in the Protestant church, with the choir again participating. This was followed by Holy Communion. The Catholic German chaplain of Camp 52 held another service in the Catholic Chapel. A prize ‘skat’ game was held with the first prize being 30 cigarettes.

“On both days, many of us hiked into the surrounding area to get to know the country and its people. The main destination was the city, as many barely knew what a big city was really like in peacetime.”

(At some time, the magazine was called - Die Posaune – (The Trombone)).

Summer 1947 to March 1948 – recorded as a hostel for Lanag Camp 262.

Known Camp Commandants:
1946 Major E G [or E F] Ashford.

After the camp: The Hall was converted to a junior seminary for the Roman Catholic Church. 1987 the Hall was converted to offices.

Further Information:

National Archive – FO 1120/246. Used above.

The German Federal Archives has a copy of the camp magazine.
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